IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

TALLAHASSEE MEMORIAL REGIONAL MEDICAL CENTER, INC., NANCY BAKER and DONALD E. ALLEN,

Petitioners,

CASE NO. 74-408

First DCA Nos: 87-1174

87 – 1175

87 - 1176

recretoners

VS.

SHERONDA A. MEEKS, a minor, and her next friend, EULA ADAMS, as Personal Representative of the Estate of SHERONDA A. MEEKS, deceased,

Respondents.

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONERS,
TALLAHASSEE MEMORIAL REGIONAL MEDICAL
CENTER, INC., NANCY BAKER AND DONALD E. ALLEN

Respectfully submitted,

HENRY, BUCHANAN, MICK & ENGLISH, P.A.

LAURA BETH FARAGASSO

Post Office Drawer 1049 Tallahassee, Florida 32302 (904) 222-2920

FLA. BAR ID: 0654604

Attorneys for Petitioners

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Petitioners, TALLAHASSEE MEMORIAL REGIONAL MEDICAL CENTER, INC., ("TMRMC"), DONALD E. ALLEN ("Allen") and NANCY BAKER ("Baker"), shall be referred to by name and as "Defendants." The Respondent, SHERONDA A. MEEKS, shall be referred to as "Plaintiff." The record shall be cited as (R. page number).

For ease of reference to the decision of the First District Court of Appeal, cited statutory and decisional law, and portions of the record, a separately bound Appendix has been filed simultaneously herewith.

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND CASE

Eula Adams, as Personal Representative of the Estate of Sheronda Meeks, and in her individual capacity, sued Tallahassee Memorial Regional Medical Center, Inc., ("TMRMC"), Donald E. Allen, ("Allen"), and Nancy Baker, ("Baker"), for the October 5, 1979, death of her daughter, Sheronda A. Meeks. (R, 78-82). The child died at home of congestive heart failure (R. 1346; 1549) several hours after being examined by TMRMC paramedics Baker and Allen, on the evening of October 4, 1979. (R. 1169-1170; 1469; 343).

The allegations of negligence in the Plaintiff's Second Amended Complaint were set forth in two separate counts, with the first alleging various acts of negligence on the part of Baker and Allen, including performing an inadequate examination, improperly taking the child's history, failing to seek the advice of a physician, and refusing to transport the patient to TMRMC. Count II alleged affirmative negligence on the part of TMRMC for failing to properly supervise, train, and instruct the paramedics. (R. 79-82). Although named individually as Defendants in the lawsuit, the complaint alleged, the Defendants acknowledged, and the evidence at trial proved that at all times pertinent to the lawsuit, Allen and Baker were acting as agents and employees

of TMRMC, within the scope of their employment duties as TMRMC paramedics. (R. 78-80; 84; 87; 90; 1153-1154; 1469).

During the trial, over Defendants' objection, the Plaintiff was allowed to impeach Baker with a statement made in a risk management incident report written by Baker the day after the paramedics examined Sheronda Meeks. The defense argued that the incident report was made pursuant to Section 395.041, Florida Statutes (1985), thereby making it inadmissible as a matter of law, either as substantive evidence or for impeachment. (R. 1183; 1185; 1195). Plaintiff argued that Chapter 401, Florida Statutes, was the controlling statutory provision, and that neither it nor Chapter 395 prohibited the use of incident reports for impeachment purposes. (R. 1184; 1186; 1188; 1192-1193). The trial judge ruled that although the incident report could not be admitted as substantive evidence, it could be used to impeach Baker. (R. 1194-1196).

The question precipitating the Defendants' objection to Plaintiff's use of the report was, "The next day, after you got back to the hospital, your supervisors told you to write down what happened, didn't they?" (R. 1182). Plaintiff's counsel followed up with a similar question after the trial court overruled the objection. (R. 1198). Counsel then elicited testimony from Baker that, contrary to her

а

a

testimony at trial, she had stated in her incident report that Sheronda Meeks' mother told the paramedics the child had a heart murmur. (R. 1198). Later in the trial, Plaintiff's expert witness stated he reviewed the incident reports in preparation for trial (R. 1327), and Plaintiff's counsel again referenced the impeachment in his closing argument. (R. 1639). The Defendants renewed their argument on this issue in their Motion for New Trial (R. 405), but the trial court again rejected the Defendants' argument. (R. 777; 742).

At the close of the trial, the jury returned a verdict apportioning individual liability to the hospital in the amount of 50%. Each of TMRMC'S agents and employees, Baker and Allen, were found 20% negligent. The mother, Eula Adams, was found to be 10% negligent. The total amount of the verdict was \$275,290. (R. 419-420).

The Final Judgment granted the Estate of Sheronda Meeks \$290. Eula Adams, individually, received a judgment for \$137,500 against. the hospital for its separate and distinct liability, plus \$55,000 against each of the paramedics. Therefore, the total award to Eula Adams and the corresponding total liability to TMRMC, calculated by adding its distinct liability to its vicarious liability for the acts of Baker and Allen, was \$247,500. (R. 743).

Although TMRMC was a member of the Florida Patient's Compensation Fund ("Fund") in 1979, Plaintiff failed to join the Fund as a defendant in the action as required by law. (R. 78; 408; 412; 668-669). After the verdict the Defendants moved to limit their total liability to \$100,000, pursuant to Section 768.54(2)(b), Florida Statutes (1979). At the hearing on their motion, Defendants (R. 408-418). argued that TMRMC had complied with all of the requirements of Section 768.54(2)(b), Florida Statutes (1979), in order to be entitled to such a limitation. (R. 408-418; 725-729; 786). Mr. Charles Portero, Claims Manager for the Fund, that effect. (R. 668-669; 673). testified to The Defendants further argued that, pursuant to Section 768.54(2)(e), Florida Statutes (1979), it was appropriate to limit the liability attributed to Baker and Allen, employees of TMRMC. (R. 408-411; 781). The Plaintiff argued that the issue of limitation of liability was irrelevant to this lawsuit (R. 718); that TMRMC was not in technical compliance provisions of Section 768.54(2)(b), Florida with the Statutes (1979) (R. 792-795); and that Baker and Allen were not individually entitled to any limitation. (R. 787-791).

a

a

a

a

а

а

The trial court failed to make any findings of fact as to TMRMC'S compliance or non-compliance with the statutory requirements for Fund membership, the threshold question

before the court. Instead, as clearly appears from the record, the court decided that it had the absolute discretion to impose or not to impose a limitation of liability, and ruled for the Plaintiff, denying the Defendants' motion. (R. 796-797; 742).

a

a

a

a

The Defendants appealed the order denying their Motion for New Trial and the Final Judgment for Plaintiff. The First District Court of Appeal affirmed the lower court on all points. The Defendants then filed a Motion for Rehearing, or in the Alternative, for Certification to the Supreme Court of Direct Conflict. The district court denied the Motion for Rehearing, issued a revised opinion, and certified a direct conflict with the Third District Court of Appeal on the issue of limitation of liability for the Defendants.

In reaching its decision, however, the district court failed to address the narrow issue before it regarding the question of limitation: whether the trial court reversibly erred in holding that it had absolute discretion to order a limitation of liability for the Defendants. Instead of speaking to this limited question, the district court rendered a broader opinion, in conflict with its sister court, holding that the Plaintiff did not have a duty to

join the Fund as a party defendant to the lawsuit. Rather, the court held it was the duty of the Defendants to "join" the Fund as a defendant, or, in the alternative, to raise lack of joinder as an affirmative defense.

a

a

The Defendants filed their Notice of Invoking Discretionary Jurisdiction and now appeal the order rendered by the First District Court of Appeal.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court committed reversible error in denying the Defendants' Motion to Limit Liability to \$100,000, based trial judge's stated perception of upon the discretion in making that decision, and the district court likewise erred in affirming the lower court's ruling on this Section 768.54(2)(b), Florida Statutes (1979), point. clearly states that if a health care provider is a member in good standing of the Fund and meets the three prerequisites for limitation of liability (i.e., pay the membership fees, provide an adequate defense of the Fund, and pay the first \$100,000), the limitation of liability is mandatory. The evidence presented to the trial court established that TMRMC was entitled to the limitation, but the trial judge refused to hear the evidence or the arguments of counsel and summarily denied the motion, without making the findings of a proper determination as to the fact necessary for hospital. Furthermore, because TMRMC is vicariously liable for the acts of its employees, Baker and Allen, and because the mandatory limitation of liability extends to the acts of a Fund member's employees, the trial court should have ordered that the total liability of the Defendants is limited to \$100,000.

The district court compounded the error of the trial court on this issue in two fashions. First, it failed to rule on the point of appeal before it, i.e., whether the trial judged erred in ruling he had absolute authority to grant or deny the limitation of liability. Then, in opining the respective duties of parties to a lawsuit with respect to the joinder of the Fund, the court disregarded the unambiguous language of statutory and case law on this issue, placing a non-existent and illogical burden upon the Defendants, and ignoring the unacceptable legal and public policy implications of its decision.

By statute and decisional authority, the Plaintiff had an unequivocal duty to join the Fund as a party defendant in this lawsuit, if the Plaintiff wished to recover more than \$100,000 on her judgment. The limitation of the health care provider Fund member's liability was mandatory once TMRMC's Fund membership was established. The failure of the Plaintiff to join the Fund is fatal to her ability to recover more than the statutorily limited amount of \$100,000.

To require TMRMC to join the Fund as a defendant or to raise non-joinder as an affirmative defense is to require the hospital to violate its statutory duty of providing an adequate defense for the Fund, and, in fact, to jeopardize

the ultimate possibility of receiving a limitation by virtue of failing to meet one of the three prerequisites, an adequate defense of the Fund. Such an action would also cause TMRMC to breach its statutorily mandated fiduciary duty to the Fund.

а

a

decision Moreover, the imposes procedurally а impossible burden upon the hospital, for only plaintiffs can "join" defendants in a lawsuit. Nor can non-joinder be raised as an affirmative defense along with the defendant's answer, because it is not a factor until a verdict is rendered in excess of \$100,000 and a determination has been made that the Fund member has met the three prerequisites for limitation. The district court's ruling on this issue contradicts the controlling statute and defies both common the established decisional law regarding limitation of liability as it has existed since the Fund was created. It jeopardizes every case in which a Fund member is a defendant and has relied in good faith on the established law. The decision of the First District Court of Appeal must therefore be reversed.

The district court also reversibly erred in affirming the trial court's ruling which permitted the impeachment of Defendant Baker with a risk management incident report written by her pursuant to Section 395.041, Florida Statutes

(1985). The impeachment evidence was extremely prejudicial to Defendants, in that it contradicted Baker's testimony regarding whether the child's mother had advised the paramedics that Sheronda had a heart murmur.

The statutory privilege accorded such incident reports 395.041 precludes their use at trial as by Section substantive evidence or for impeachment purposes. The prejudice resulting to the Defendants from the trial court's erroneous ruling was compounded by reference to the incident report by Plaintiff's counsel and expert witness. allowing the initial impeachment and the comments which followed, the trial judge violated both the intent and the letter of the incident report privilege. By analogy, Section 316.066, Florida Statutes (1985), the accident report privilege, and Section 90.410, Florida Statutes (1978), the criminal plea privilege, provide guidance as to the impropriety of using privileged information impeachment. The district court's affirmance of the trial court's ruling on this issue contravenes the clear language of the applicable statute, as well as the legislative intent of the incident report privilege, and must be reversed.

ARGUMENT

I. THE DISTRICT COURT REVERSIBLY ERRED IN REFUSING TO LIMIT DEFENDANTS' LIABILITY TO \$100,000,

This case is before the Court for review pursuant to the certification of the First District Court of Appeal that its decision directly and expressly conflicts with the decision of the Third District Court of Appeal in Mercy Hospital, Inc. v. Menendez, 371 So.2d 1077 (Fla. 3d DCA 1979) app. dism'd and cert. denied, 383 So 2d 1198 (Fla. 1980). In addition to conflicting with its sister court, the district court's opinion is contrary to the holding of the Supreme Court in Taddiken v. Florida Patient's ... ompensa io nd, 478 So. 2d 1058 (Fla. 1985), wherein the affirmative duty of a plaintiff to join the Fund as a defendant in the lawsuit, and the limited liability of a health care provider Fund member were espoused. For the reasons stated below, it is apparent that the Mercy Hospital and Taddiken cases resolve these issues correctly and in a manner which is consistent with the language and legislative intent of the governing statute, and the district court's opinion to the contrary must therefore be reversed.

Following the trial, the Defendants moved to limit their liability to \$100,000, pursuant to Section 768.54, Florida Statutes (1979), which clearly provides for that limitation, as follows:

A health care provider shall not ha liable for an amount in excess of \$100,000 per claim. if the health care provider had paid the fees required for the year in which the incident occurred for which the claim is filed, and an adequate defense of the Fund is provided, and pays at least the initial \$100,000 of any settlement or judgment against the health care provider for the claim in accordance with paragraph (3)(e). A health care provider may have the necessary funds available for payment when due...

Although TMRMC was a member in good standing of the Fund in 1979, the Plaintiff failed to join the Fund as a defendant in the lawsuit, and is therefore prohibited by law from recovering the excess amount of the judgment from the Fund or the Defendants. Section 768.54(3)(e)(1), Florida Statutes (1979); Taddiken v. Florida Patient's Compensation Fund, 478 So.2d 1058 (Fla. 1985).

The Defendants asserted that the Plaintiff's failure to meet her statutory obligation in joining the Fund rendered her incapable of collecting from the Defendants an amount greater than \$100,000, since it has been uniformly held, and Section 768.54, Florida Statutes (1979), clearly states, that a member in good standing, such as TMRMC, is entitled to a mandatory limitation of liability for its own

negligence and its vicarious liability for the acts of its employees. At the hearing on this motion, the trial court never reached the issue raised by the Plaintiff, of whether TMRMC had met the prerequisites for membership in the Fund and the accompanying limitation of liability, although the evidence before the Court revealed that TMRMC had met its statutory obligations. Instead, the trial judge erroneously decided that he had absolute discretion to determine whether or not he should allow a limitation, and he denied the motion on that basis, without making any findings of fact. (R. 795-798; 742).

The legislature created the Fund in 1975 in order to establish a mechanism and source of funds for compensating medical malpractice plaintiffs. The statute is, in effect, a contract among the affected parties (the Fund, the health care provider member, and the claimant), and the terms of this contract have been amended from time to time since the Fund's creation. Chapter 78-47, Laws of Florida (1978), amended Section 768.54(3)(a), Florida Statutes (1977), by broadening the purpose of the Fund from paying a portion of "any medical malpractice claim for health care providers" in excess of the established limits, to paying the excess portion of:

...any claim arising out of the rendering of or failure to render medical care or services for health care providers or any claim for bodily injury or property damage to the person or property of any patient arising out of the insured's activities...

A further expansion was accomplished with the passage of Chapter 79-178, Laws of Florida (1979), effective July 1, 1979, and thus controlling law at the time of the subject incident on October 4-5, 1979. Chapter 79-178 specifically included "all patient injuries and deaths" in the types of claims to be covered by the Fund. The claim resulting from the death of Sheronda Meeks was therefore eligible for coverage from the Fund, had the Plaintiff joined the Fund as a Defendant as required by Section 768.54(3)(e)(1), Florida Statutes (1979).

a

in this case, failure to join the Fund is However, as fatal. A Plaintiff cannot recover against the Fund unless it has been named as a Defendant in the suit. Section 768.54(3)(e)(1), Florida Statutes (1979); Taddiken v. Florida Patient's Compensation Fund, 478 So.2d 1058 (Fla. This statutory scheme has repeatedly been upheld as 1985). constitutional. Department of Insurance v. Southeast Volusia Hospital District, 438 So.2d 815 (Fla. 1983); Florida Patient's Compensation Fund v. Von Stetina, 474 So.2d 783 (Fla. 1985).

Nor may a plaintiff who neglects his duty to join the Fund remedy his failure by collecting the excess amounts from the health care provider defendant or its employees, as long as the health care provider has met the prerequisites for limitation of liability. Contrary to the trial court's assumption, there is no judicial discretion involved once it has been determined that the provider is entitled to limitation, for the statutory mandate is clear: "A health care provider shall not be liable for an amount in excess of \$100,000 per claim..." Section 768.54(2)(b), Florida Statutes (1979). (emphasis added)

8

The Defendants presented the trial court with ample evidence to enable it to determine that TMRMC was a Fund member in good standing at the time of the incident. The judge failed to make that determination. When counsel for the Defendants attempted to advise the trial judge that, if he found TMRMC had complied with the requirements of Section 768.54(2)(b), Florida Statutes (1979), he would have no discretion on the issue of limitation, the judge cut off the argument and, stating that he had complete discretion in this matter, denied the motion without making any findings of fact. (R. 795-798; 742). The following dialogue demonstrates the lower court's blatant abuse of discretion:

MR. SUBER: Judge, may I respond to those?

You may, but I am not going to grant the \$100,000 limitation. THE COURT:

* * *

THE COURT: I think it is within the sound

discretion of the Court to make

that liability.

Could I make a comment on that Judge? MR. BUCHANAN:

I am not going to change my ruling on THE COURT:

the matter, but if you want to do it for the purposes of the record, that

is fine.

I don't think it is discretionary MR. BUCHANAN:

with the Court--under the Owens case, it is mandatory that the limitation--1 don't think if they failed to join the Fund that it is discretionary, and if the Court is doing it on a discretionary basis, I would like to get that in the record that it is mandatory. If

the limitation is there, I don't think

the Court has any choice.

THE COURT: I am not going to do it, however.

MR. SUBER: For the record, Judge, may I

continue?

No, I have heard all I need to THE COURT:

hear on that issue.

How about if I just get in a couple of exhibits? MR. SUBER:

* * *

MR. SUBER: First, I would cite a case in

support of what Mr. Buchanan just said, Tadicar [Taddiken] versus Florida Patient's Compensation Fund, at 478 So.2d 1058...

. . .

MR. SUBER -

I have several other points, but

am I to infer that you don't

want to hear them?

THE COURT -

I am not going to change my mind, I am going to decline to limit the liability of the hospital.

(R. 795-798).

Thus, the court refused to consider the applicable law, disregarded the evidence before it, and ruled on the motion without having resolved the underlying facts necessary to that determination.

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