IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

TALLAHASSEE MEMORIAL REGIONAL AND MEDICAL CENTER, INC., NANCY BAKER AND DONALD E. ALLEN,

Petitioners,

vs.

Case No. 74,408

SHERONDA MEEKS, a minor, and her next friend, EULA ADAMS, as Personal Representative of the Estate of SHERONDA A. MEEKS, deceased,

Respondents.

AUG 28 1989 CLERK, SUPREME C By_ Dep

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

KNOWLES AND RANDOLPH

ROOSEVELT RANDOLPH, ESQUIRE
FLORIDA BAR NO. 183446
HAROLD M. KNOWLES, ESQUIRE
FLORIDA BAR NO. 174359
528 EAST PARK AVENUE
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301
(9'04) 222-3768
LARRY K. WHITE, ESQUIRE
FLORIDA BAR NO. 195446

1020 LAFAYETTE STREET SUITE 104 TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (904) 942-7700

This is an appeal from an affirmance by the First District of Appeal of judgment for damages in a negligence action.

Appellants maintain the court below committed reversible error in: a) denying their motion to limit liability to \$100,000.00 based on Section 768.54(2)(b), Florida Statutes (1979); b) affirming trial court's ruling which permitted impeachment of Appellant paramedic Nancy Baker's testimony through the use of incident reports; c) requiring the health care provider to join the Patient's Compensation Fund if it wished to avail itself of the Fund's limitation of liability.

Appellee/Plaintiff would show that no reversible error was committed at any stage of these proceedings for the reasons set forth below.

First, the principles of joint and several liability require affirmance of the total damage award without regard to the limitation of liability supposedly available to Appellant Tallahassee Memorial Regional Medical Center (TMRMC) under Section 768.54(2)(b), Florida Statutes (1979). Appellant paramedics Baker and Allen are not covered by the limitation of liability because Section 768.54(2)(b) relates only to health care providers. Appellee/Plaintiff sued Appellants Baker and Allen individually for torts committed independent of the negligence of their employer, TMRMC. Therefore, even assuming TMRMC could avail itself of the limitation of liability purportedly afforded it under Section

-2-

768.54(2)(b), Florida Statutes (1979), co-defendants Baker and Allen are nonetheless liable for the remainder of the damage award as joint tortfeasors. Under the theory of joint and several liability which applies to this case Appellee/Plaintiff has the clear and unequivocal right to collect from any or all of the Appellants. Thus, this case may be decided on this threshold issue alone, without any need to reach the certified conflict issue of the First District Court's opinion with <u>Mercy Hospital. Inc v.</u> <u>Menendez</u>, 371 So.2d 1077 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1979).

Secondly, the District Court did not err in determining that the <u>Menendez</u> decision was erroneous as it applied to the limitation of liability under Section 768.54(2) (b) (1979). More to the point, <u>Menendez</u> was decided under the old statutory language (of the 1979 law) and has no applicability here. Florida Statute 768.54 (2)(b) is procedural not substantive. The law of the case is the law in effect at the time of the appeal. In the case <u>sub judice</u> that law is the 1982 law. This law sets forth the statutory scheme for paying a judgment and places no cap on the recovery of those damages. Plaintiff has a constitutional right to collect the entire judgment from the health care provider.

Thirdly, even assuming arguendo that the doctrine of joint and several liability has no application herein, or that Appellants are entitled to the limitation of liability, Appellants would not be able to prevail in the instant cause as TMRMC failed to meet the requirements of Section 768.54(2)(B) (1979), pertaining to qualifying as a member of the Patient's Compensation Fund (thereby

-3-

entitling it to \$100,000.00 limitation of liability, if applicable). Appellee/Plaintiff has shown through extensive documentation of the record that Appellant TMRMC failed to comply with Fund requirements for membership and, consequently, was entitled to none of the benefits of the limitations of liability if indeed the limitation has any application at all in this case.

Fourth, Appellee/Plaintiff would urge that this case is not and never has been a medical malpractice case, and, as such, 768, Florida Statutes, relating to Chapter the Patient's Compensation Fund, has no application herein. No mention of medical malpractice or the standards of recovery for medical negligence were mentioned by Appellants until the time of trial. "patient" Decedent herein was never а of TMRMC and Appellee/Plaintiff's claim for damages does not stem from any medical diagnosis, care or treatment.

Fifth, Appellee/Plaintiff would maintain the Court below in no way erred in permitting the use of an incident report to impeach the testimony of Appellant Nancy Baker. Appellant Baker made certain statements under oath which directly contradicted written statements she made in an incident report completed the day following death of the decedent herein. While the report itself was never introduced into evidence the trial judge permitted its use to impeach Appellant Baker. The trial judge correctly concluded, and the District Court affirmed, the use of these reports to impeach the contradictory testimony of Appellant Baker. Assuming a statutory privilege existed, Appellants waived any

-4-

argument herein by their own use of the incident report before and during the trial. Appellants contradicted themselves numerous times, so that the effect of any claimed violation of the privilege was harmless. Further, the information elicited from the incident report was cumulative as it was included in the testimony of Nancy Baker, Sadie Thomas and Plaintiff Eula Thomas.

III ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT REVERSIBLY ERR IN REFUSING TO LIMIT APPELLANTS/DEFENDANTS LIABILITY TO \$100,000.00.

> (A) Principles of Joint and Several Liability Require Affirmance of Total Damage Award Without Regard to Certified Conflict of District Court Opinion With <u>Mercy Hospital Inc. v.</u> <u>Menendez</u>.

This Court need not decide the certified conflict of the District Court's opinion with <u>Mercv Hospital Inc. v. Menendez</u>, 371 So.2d 1077 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1979) to affirm the jury's award of damages in this case. The joint and several liability argument urged by plaintiffs herein relieves this court of the need to reach that issue at this time.

Plaintiff sued defendant, TMRMC, and defendants Baker and Allen (paramedics) in their individual capacity. Plaintiff proceeded to trial in a two-count amended complaint. Count I alleged affirmative negligence of the defendants Baker and Allen which included performing an inadequate examination, improperly taking the decedent's patient history, failing to seek the advice of a physician, and refusing to transport the patient to TMRMC (R-79-83). Count II alleged TMRMC was negligent in that it failed to properly instruct, train and supervise defendants Baker and Allen Baker and Allen were working within the scope of (R-81-83). their employment at the time of the incident (R-78-80; 84, 87; 90; 1153-1154; 1469). Thus TMRMC is also vicariously liable for the

- 6 -

acts of defendants Baker and Allen. The court instructed the jury on the doctrine of joint and several liability (R-1691) without objection from the Defendants (R-1695).

The District Court recognized the applicability of the doctrine of joint and several liability to the instant case when it noted:

Thus, while the appellants Baker and Allen are covered by the fund as employees of the hospital if the hospital is properly a member of the fund nevertheless, this contractual benefit to them in no way effects the rights of plaintiffs/appellees herein.

Appellants/Defendants refuse to acknowledge the applicability of joint and several liability in this case and indeed distort, merge and otherwise confuse which party (plaintiff or defendants) benefits by this concept.

Defendants urge the following argument in their brief: the jury awarded damages against three (3) individually named defendants, with three different judgments, but that plaintiff has no other choice but to seek all damages from one defendant, TMRMC. In essence, they argue that affirmative negligence was plead and is further argued by proven against defendant TMRMC. It Appellants/Defendants that although separate and distinct affirmative acts by Defendants Baker and Allen were alleged and proven that liability is automatically imputed to defendant TMRMC based on the theory of respondeat superior. Appellants' argument at this point makes several leaps and bounds, reciting numerous insupportable conclusions not based on any known case law.

-7-

Appellants then argue that TMRMC was a member in good standing with the Patient's Compensation Fund at the time of this lawsuit and therefore entitled to the \$100,000.00 limitation of liability. Consequently, the Appellants reason, the limitation of liability afforded TMRMC as a participating hospital applies to defendants Baker and Allen as employees because defendant TMRMC is vicariously liable for the acts of their employees. They do not argue that Defendants Baker and Allen as paramedics are health care providers under Section 768.54, Florida Statutes, entitled to fund coverage in their own right. That right to limitation of liability , it is contended, springs from the membership of TMRMC. Thus, conclude Appellants in their argument, ". . . the umbrella of fund coverage available to TMRMC should extend to its employees, Baker and Allen. . ."

A brief review of the concepts and relevant case law demonstrate how untenable Defendants' arguments are in the instant case. Joint and several liability is a judicially created doctrine, Walt Disnev World Co. v. Wood, 515 So.2d 198 (Fla. 1987), that enables a court to impose a judgment on joint or multiple tortfeasors, binding each to pay the entire amount of the damages assessed against all of them. <u>Sands vs. Wilson</u>, 140 Fla. 18, 191 So. 21 (1939). A plaintiff injured by the tortious actions or omissions of joint or multiple defendants may proceed against any of them and recover the total amount of any judgment imposed. <u>Dulman vs. Seaboard Coast Line Railroad Company</u>, 308 So.2d 53 (Fla. 4th DCA 1975); <u>Sands v. Wilson</u>, supra. The doctrine is still in

-8-

effect, notwithstanding the adoption of comparative negligence in Florida. Under the Florida theory of comparative negligence, damages awarded to the plaintiff are reduced by the plaintiff's own degree of negligence. Sec. 768.81(2), Fla. Stat. The jointly liable defendants then have joint and several liability for the remainder of the damages, unless they are subject to the limitations of the Tort Reform Acts of 1986 or 1988. See Sec. 768.81(3)-(6), Fla. Stat. This cause arose prior to July 1, 1986. Thus, it was appropriate for the trial court to give the instruction pertaining to joint and several liability and for Plaintiff to utilize it.

The doctrine of comparative negligence does not alter the doctrine of joint and several liability. It was argued in the Supreme Court case of Licenbers v. Issen, 318 So.2d 386 (Fla. 1975), that as an implied result of the adoption of comparative negligence, the plaintiff was entitled to recover from each defendant only an amount proportionate to that defendant's fault in having caused the plaintiff's injury. However, the Court held that the plaintiff was entitled to recover full damages, reduced only by the plaintiff's own degree of negligence. The defendants were found jointly and severally liable for all damages caused by their combined negligence. The Court further observed that the statutory right of contribution, <u>see</u>, Sec. 768.31, Fla. Stat., granted to jointly liable defendants in actions pending as of June 12, 1975, or filed thereafter, Sec. 768.31(7), Fla. Stat., did not eliminate joint and several liability. Licenbers v. Issen, supra.

-9-

The right of contribution permitted damages to be apportioned among the defendants on a pro rata basis without consideration of their relative degrees of fault. See, former Sec. 768.31, Fla. Stat. (subsequently amended to provide contribution on basis of relative However, the multiparty defendants remained jointly and fault). severally liable for the entire amount. Licenberg v. Issen, supra. Courts in subsequent decisions interpreted Licenberg as upholding the doctrine of joint and several liability. See, e.g., Walt Disnev World Co. v. Wood, supra (listing subsequent decisions upholding continuance of joint and several liability doctrine). In <u>Disney</u>, a plaintiff was injured at an attraction in Walt Disney World when her fiancee's vehicle collided with the vehicle she was The jury returned a verdict finding the plaintiff 14 driving. percent at fault, her fiancee 85 percent at fault, and the defendant Disney 1 percent at fault. The court entered a judgment against Disney for 86 percent of the damages. Disney moved to amend the judgment to reflect the finding of the jury that Disney was only 1 percent at fault. The court denied the motion. On appeal, the Fourth District affirmed the judgment on the basis of The issue was certified to the Florida Supreme Court Licenberg. to determine whether Licenberg applied in a fact situation in which the plaintiff was also at fault, since Licenberg involved a blameless plaintiff. The Supreme Court responded to the certified question in the affirmative and approved the decision of the district court.

-10-

This Court has also addressed the broader issue of whether the doctrine of joint and several liability should be replaced by one in which the liability of co-defendants to the plaintiff is apportioned according to each defendant's respective fault. The Court reviewed the trend in other states and noted that although some states have passed laws eliminating joint and several liability after the adoption of comparative negligence, the majority of states that have considered the issue have ruled that joint and several liability should be retained. The Court's analysis included citing the Illinois Supreme Court which said:

> (1) The feasibility of apportioning fault on comparative basis does not render an а indivisible injury "divisible" for purposes of the joint and several liability rule. Α concurrent tortfeasor is liable for the whole of an indivisible injury when his negligence is a proximate cause of that damage. In many instances, the negligence of a concurrent tortfeasor may be sufficient by itself to The mere fact that it cause the entire loss. may be possible to assign some percentage figure to the relative culpability of one negligent defendant as compared to another each does not in any way suggest that defendant's negligence is not a proximate cause of the entire indivisible injury.

The three Defendants, TMRMC, Baker and Allen are joint tortfeasor, each shown at trial to have committed separate and distinct affirmative acts of negligence. They are, as shown by the above case law, jointly and severally liable for damages flowing from those affirmative acts. Plaintiff has the option - not Defendant - of collecting from any or all of the tortfeasors. Defendants have contended that because defendant TMRMC is also

-11-

vicariously liable as an employer of Defendants Baker and Allen, that Plaintiff is somehow precluded from collecting against Defendants Baker and Allen. Imposition of the doctrine of vicarious liability in joint and several liability cases has shown otherwise.

Vicarious liability is the doctrine under which a person who is free from fault must, because of his or her relationship to the tortfeasor, nonetheless bear the legal and financial consequences of the tort. It is true that Defendant TMRMC may be held vicariously liable for the acts of Defendants Baker and Allen. However, the fact that the hospital is vicariously liable for those acts in no way obviates the personal liability of defendants Baker and Allen. This point was illustrated in Drew v. Knowles, 511 So.2d 393 (Fla. App.2d Dist. 1987). In that case the deceased patient's personal representative brought suit against respiratory therapists, registered nurses, doctors and nurses of the admitting hospital. The fact that a hospital is vicariously liable for a nurse's negligence does not relieve the nurse of personal liability for any acts of independent negligence, that is, negligence in the performance of ministerial acts or negligence in situations where the nurse is called on to exercise personal judgment.

> We agree that a nurse acting under the direction and orders of a physician in matters involving medical professional skill and judgment is absolved from liability for the acts so performed, absent independent negligence upon the part of the nurse, and absent a performance of those acts or duties a nurse is called upon to perform at a level of performance below that which is expected of

> > -12-

a similarly qualified nurse. <u>Similarly, where</u> <u>a nurse is called upon to exercise</u> <u>professional iudoment or to perform discretionary</u> <u>ministerial acts and does so negligently, the</u> <u>nurse may be liable</u>. <u>Drew</u>, <u>supra</u>, at p. 396.

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